MORA/SAN

MIGUE|

'MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC
COOPERATIVE, INC.

ONBOARDING FOR NEW HIRES



Being part of an electric co-op team is unique. Why? Because cooperatives are not typical

businesses!

Mora-San Miguel Electric Cooperative, Inc. was formed in 1940 by members of our community

-- to serve the community. There are 200 electric co-ops in the U.S., and each is slightly

different because it provides services based on what the local community needs. So let's take a A T B Coperse Ao TN
look at our co-op.

WELCOME TO OUR TEAM

MSMEC Mission Statement MSMEC Vision Statement

"MSMEC established in 1940 is "MSMEC will support its
dedicated to improving the lives of communities by developing
its Member Owners, while investing partnerships with its
in our communities, we deliver safe, Members/Consumers,

reliable and affordable electricity implementing new technology,
with a focus on excellent member monitoring and delivering smart,
service, and clean renewable clean and affordable electric
energy.” power in its expanding service
territory"

MSMEC District Map

Mora-San Miguel Electric Cooperative

IMPORTANT
INFORMATION
501 STATE HIGHWAY 518
PO BOX 240
MORA, NEW MEXICO
87732
MAIN: 575-383-4270
FAX: 575-387-5975

Touchstone Energy Employee #:

Cooperatives ad-s ! , = ,
The power of human connections™ ¢ = X B : B . e ond” . Employee Email;

morasanmiguel.coop




' NRECA EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

PARTICIPANT RESOURCE GUIDE

MEMBER SERVICE INFORMATION

MEMBER CONTACT CENTER
For general guestions about your benefits,
CALL B66,873,2299, option 8, Monday - Friday, 7am -7 pm CT
EMAIL contacicenter@nvecacoop

COOPERATIVE BENEFIT ADMINISTRATORS (CBA)

For claims gquestions on medical, dental, vision, disabllity plans, HRAs

and 125 plans
CALL 402,483,9200, Monday ~ Friday, 7am -7 pm CT
EMAIL contacteenter@nreca.coop

RETIREMENT EDUCATION & PLANNING

PERSONAL INVESTMENT & RETIREMENT CONSULTING (PIRC)

Confidential invastment and retirement education for all participants
in the Retirement Security and 401(k) Pension plans

CALL B66.673.2299, opticn &
Monday - Friday, 7:30 am - 4 pm CT

EMAIL pirc@nreca.coop

NRECA MEDICAL PLAN RESOURCES

CENTERS OF EXCELLENCE

The Centers of Excellence programs help you find high-quality care
at state-of-the-art medical facilities across the United States,
Transplant & Barfalric Surgery Centers of Excellence: These
programs are mandatory if you're in need of a transplant or bariatric
(welght-loss) surgery.

Cancer Centers of Excellence: This is an optional program if you're
looking for information and support to make an informed decision
about your cancer treatment,

CALL 888.936,7248, Monday - Friday, 7 am - 7 pm CT (bariairic
surgery program)

CALL 800.526.7322, Monday - Friday, 7 am - 6 pm CT (transplant &
cancer pregrams)

GO TO cooparative.com > My Benefits > My insurance > Centers of
Excalience

SHARE (Simplified Hospital Admission REview) Program

Ceriain services, such as hospital admissions, MRls, CTs, PETs and
home health care, require preauthorization for medical hecessity,
Obtaining preauthorization is your responsibility. Failure to do so
could result in a penalty or denial of the claim, For more information,
including a complete list of services that require preauthorization,
saee your summary plan description,

CALL 800,526,7322, Monday - Friday, 7 am -6 pm CT

GO TG cooperative.com > My Beneflts » My Insurance = SHARE

MYHEALTH COACHES™

Registerad nurse or dietitlan health coaches are available to help vou
with your heaith and lifestyle concerns such as diabetes, heart
disease, back and joint issues, guitting tebacco, exercise and
nutrition. This service is offered at no additional cost.

CALL 866.696,7322, 24 hours a day, seven days a week

GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > MyHealth
Coaches

FIRST STEPS MATERNITY PROGRAM

Expectant mcothets receive support from nurses and free educational
materials to ensure a healthy pregnancy. Preconception eounseling

is also available. This service is offered at no additional cost.

GALL 800.526.7322, Monday - Friday, 7 am - 6 pm CT

G0 TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > First Steps
Matarnity

PRESCRIPTION DRUG

To reach CVS Caremark® Customer Care

CALL 888.796.7322, 24 hours a day, seven days a week

CVS Caramark Specialty Pharmacy (specially maclications)
CALL BO0.237.2767, Mohday - Friday, 6:30 am -8 pm CT

GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > Manage
Your Prescriptions

LAB

Non-high-deductible Medicai Plans Diagnostic x-ray and lab services
are included in the medical banefit and, as such, are subject to your
plan’s deductible, colnsurance and copays. The plan pays 100% of
covered preventive lab services,

High-deductible Health Plans All charges for [aboratory services
count toward vour deductible, with the exception of preventive
services covered by the plan (paid at 100%),

Laboratory services are provided by UHC's extensive national
laboratory network,

GQ TO cooperative.corn > My Benefits > My Insurance > Find a
Doctor

GRPFYIB06 Rev. 07/19

LIFE STRATEGY COUNSELING

Trained counselors can help participants manage personal and
emotional challenges. They can also connect you with sarvices in
your area such as chlld and elder care, home repalr and more. This
confidential service is offered at no additicnal cost to all employees,
as well as their dependents over age 18, who are eligible to
participate in the NRECA Madical Plan.

CALL 888,225,42388, 24 hours a day, seven davs a week

GO TO cooparative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > Life
Strategy Counseling

TELADOC

Speak by phone or video call with a physician licensed in your area
{within the U.5.). Teladoc provides 24/7 access to a national network
of board-certified doctors for urgent medical needs, such as flu,
sinus infection or pink eye. Consultations are $45 or less. State
restrictions may apply.

CALL L300 TELADQC {835.2362)

GO TC cocperative.com » My Benefits > My Insurance > Teladoc
DOWNLOAD the Teladoc smartghons agp from the Apple Apo Store

or the Google Play Stora.
’f“ﬂ

i NRECA

Arerien's Eleetrlc Cooparatives




NRECA EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

PARTICIPANT RESOURCE GUIDE

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS WEBSITE RESOURCES

First-time users will need to register and set up your credentials; otherwise, yvou can log in to use this secure website.

MY INSURANCE MY RETIREMENT

Track your benefits, request a health ID card, print a temporary Plan for retirement, manage your accounts and watch them perform.

health ID card, order prescription refills online and more.
crder p p f = My 401(k): Check your account balance, change your investments,

= Find a Doctor: Find providers and facilities in your medical, dental view your personal rate of return and more
or vision network GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Retirement
GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > Find
Daato P y=en vl fnda * RS Plan Statements: Access your RS Plan annual statement
) ] ) ) ) GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Retirement > RS Plan
» Claims: Search and filter your claims; view your explanations of Statements
benefits

* Personal Investment & Retirement Consulting: Find PIRC planner

GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > Claims : . 3 . ) h
biographies, as well as educational videos, webinar recordings and

» Dental Plans: Learn more about your dental plan other investment and retirement resources
GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > Dental GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Retirement >
Plans Personal Investment & Retirement Consulting
» Prescription Drugs: Access information, resources and tools to = Planning Calculators: Calculate what you will need to save for
manage your prescription drug benefit retirement, college and mare
GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > Manage GO TO cooperative.com > My Eenefits > My Retirement > Planning
Your Prescriptions Calculators
» Health ID Cards: Order a card with your health and prescription
drug information or to view and print a temporary card EDUCATION & RESOURCES
GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > My Insurance > Download Find benefits-related rescurces, tools and documents.
a Tempotary Health ID Card or Request a Health ID Card GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefits > Education & Resources
* Vision Plans: Learn more about your vision plan
GO TO cooperative.com > My Benefiis > My Insurance > Vision USE THE WEBSITE ON THE GO
Plans Access benefit information, tools and resources from the website on

your smartphone, Once you open the website in your phone's web
browser and log in, you will be provided instructions to add a button
on your phone for easy access.

s WebMD MyHealth Manager: Access this interactive, online portal,
powered by WebMD, to set health and fitness goals, watch videos
and read articles on various health topics and much more.

Key features include:

- MyHealth Survey: A brief, confidential questionnaire that helps
you understand your health risks based on your screening results
and lifestyle habits

- MyHealth Assistant: An online health coaching experience where
you can select activities to meet your short-term and long-term
health and wellness goals

- Symptom Checker: Helps you
determine if and when you should
seek medical treatment

GO TO cooperative.corn > My Banefits T
> My Insurance > WebMD MyHealth %ﬂ&m e ey, i

Manager e —_=

s peminTizn

. a
namsssan % -
o

NRECA

America's Electric Cooperatives




Cooperative.com
Registration Process for New Users

Your co-op offers eligible employees comprehensive benefits to protect you and your family.
NRECA's Employee Benefits website is your secure source for benefits information, educational
tools and resources. Getting started is quick and simple. First time users can follow these
instructions to register and log in to the site.

GETTING STARTED: Visit cooperative.com and click on “Member Login.” Then select “Register”
under “New to the Cooperative Family.”

= COOPERATIVE:COM

You'll then need to indicate that you participate in NRECA employee benefit programs by
selecting the top option and clicking "Continue.”

STEP 1: To create an account linked to your employee benefits you will need to verify your identity.
Use the drop-down menu to choose one of two options:
Option 1. Enter your Social Security number, first and last names along with your birth
date and home postal (or ZIP) code.
Option 2. If you have NRECA health benefits, enter your NRECA member ID from your
health ID card along with your first and last name, last four digits of your Social
Security number, birth date and home postal (or ZIP) code.

Once you've entered this information, click “"Continue.”

COOPERATIVE.COM

COOPERATIVE.COM

Troubleshoofing Tip:

If NRECA has not been updated
with your information, check with
your benefits administrator to
ensure your information has been
provided to NRECA. You may
also contact NRECA's Member
Contact Center at 866.673.2299.
Representatives can assist you
Monday through Friday, 7 am to
7 pm, Central time.

continued

RGFY18004 10/2019

Elsctric Cooperatives

& NRECA




COOPERATIVE.COM g STEP 2: Once registered, you can update your prefix, job title, nickname
t and designation. You can also edit your home address or add another
address. If you add another address, be sure to check the box indicating
= which address NRECA should use for mailing your benefits information.
= You will also be asked to provide a primary email address along with
relevant phone numbers. Once you have reviewed, confirmed or

i modified this information, click “Continue.”

COOPERATIVE.COM

STEP 3: Create your account username and password to continue
the registration process.

STEP 4: Verify your identity and confirm your email address. NRECA will send you a confirmation
email, simply follow the prompts in that email to verify your email address.

COOPERATIVE.COM
STEP 5: Enter your new username and password. Before accessing
your account information, you'll need to establish a multi-factor
authentication so NRECA can confirm your identity for future log-ins
or in case you need to reset your login information. Select Text Me,
Call Me, Use Google Authenticator App or Ask Me a Question from @ e
among the options and follow the prompts to establish your method
of authentication.

o Calt Me
s

0 Use Google Authenticator App

s

Asi Me a Question
St ) oo Ao 0
Sexie

continited

N



Forgot Your Log-in Information?

If you forget your username or password, you can reset this information by clicking on “forgot
your username” or “forgot your password” on the cooperative.com login screen. Follow the
prompts to recover this information.

Need Assistance?
The Member Contact Center can help you by phone with any registration or log in questions
between 7am-7pm, Monday through Friday, Central time, at 866.673.2299.

Now that you're registered for cooperative.com access you can visit NRECA’s
Employee Benefits website at any time. Simply log in and click on the “My Benefits”
link. The website lets you view and manage your retirement and medical benefit
online, including access through your computer or smartphone.




NRECA’s Employee Benefits Website:
Connect on the Go

NRECA’s Employee Benefits website lets you view and manage your retirement and health
benefits online, including access through your smartphone.

Getting mobile access is as easy as 1-2-3...

STEP 1: Open the web browser on your STEP 2: Enter your cooperative.com
mobile phone and go to cooperative.com. username and password and follow the
Then scroll down and click on "My Benefits.” prompts. Be sure to check the "Remember

my username” box to make your next log in
quicker. You will then need to choose one of
the multi-factor authentication methods to
confirm your identity.

COOPERATIVE-COM Q

Welcome,

America’s Electric __

Cooperatives 1 Fi]ﬂ'st time users:
Click on "Register”

beneath “New to

the Cooperative

Family?” and follow

COOPERATIVE.COM the prompts to set
up your account,

LOG IN TO VIEW YOUR BENEFITS

Check your 401(
and other benef

Welcome

MY BENEFITS —

COOPERATIVE.COM

Text Me

SETUP

£ NRECA

@ America's Electric Cooperntives

RGFY18002 10/2019



STEP 3: Once logged in, a pop-up dialog box with instructions will appear so you can create a
button on your phone for future access.

Aceesx Full Website

NRECA
Emplayee Senefits

Welsome, Susan Participant

If the pop-up dialog box does
not appear, follow these steps:
» For Android - Tap the {
menu button and "Add to
home screen.”
« For iPhone - Click on the
bookmark icon and tap

“Add to Home Screen.”

" Tocreate a button for this mosde

websie on your phoae, openthe
Browser cption menu and tap on

h a0,

Your benefits at your fingertips

Enjoy mobile access for managing your retirement and group insurance benefit programs.
Navigate easily by choosing “Retirement” or “Insurance” to open the menu options.

Aecess Full Webaks

=)
L]
L]
@
@
L]

My fetiremant

401(k) Statemans

REFlan Sratementsy

oo e

Access Full Websita

Have questions or need
assistance?

you n2ed access o

aciditional informarcion,

; ;
My Ingurance
simply click on "Access

E i Wz2bsite” on any

Annual Medical summary

Contact the Member Contact
Center at 866.673.2299 or
contactcenter@nreca.coop.
Representatives are available

N & Monday through Friday, 7am
L . to 7pm, Central time,

Clalms
SCFeRR

 Finda Doctar i |
Manage Your Prescriptions g

:

B

. Dawnload a Temporary
"~ Health 10 Card

ro



Subject:

Objectives:

Policy:

MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
RETIREMENT RECOGNITION
BOARD POLICY NO. 217

MSMEC Employee Retirement Recognition Policy

To recognize MSMEC employees for yvears of service worked at retivement, and
to create a policy for consistent recognition of emplovees retiring from MSMEC,

An employee’s retirement shall be recognized by MSMEC when an employee
notifies Human Resource Manager of the date the employee plans to file for
retirement from employment. Upon notification to retire by the employee,
Human Resource shall work to arrange all personnel matters required to enable
the employee to retire. Human Resource shall notify the General Manger of the
employee’s intent to retire and the retirement date for the employee. Human
Resource shall then schedule to inform the MSMEC Board of the employee to
refire and the date of retirement and the years of service. Upon recognizing the
proposed retirement of MSMEC Employee, the Board shall recognize the
employee for the years of service provided to MSMEC and provide appreciation
for the years of service and authorize the General Manager to provide Employee
Retirement Recognition as allowed for in this policy. Board policy allows for a
monetary recognition and a commemorative gift depicting the employee’s
contribution to Coop. Monetary gifts may be subject to IRS rules and regulation.

Monetary Recognition:

e MSMEC Employee with 0-20 vears of service : $150.00
o MSMEC Employee with 21-25 vears of service: $250.00
e MSMEC Employee with 26-30 years of Service: $350.00

e  MSMEC Employee with 31-over years of Service $500.00

Commemorative Recognition:

@ Plaque, clock, jewelry, buckles, etc. valued no more than $200.00

Cocrdination and Presentation;

» Human Resource shail coordinate with the employee, the employees’
manager or supervisor and the General Manager arrangements to ensure
presentation of the Employee Retirement Recognition entitted to the
retiring employee,

Page 1 of 2




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
RETIREMENT RECOGNITION
BOARD POLICY NO. 217

= Presentations shall take place prior to the date of retirement and during
a scheduled retirement lunch or dinner. (not during working hours)

e Retirement Recognition shall be preseniad to the employee by the
Chairman of the Board or its designee and shall be presented to the
employee during the retirement lunch and/or dinner.

o All MSMEC employees shall be invited to attend the Retirement
presentation.

¢ Presentation Lunch and/or Dinner shall be provided by MSMEC for
Emplovees attending. (No alcohol)

Approved: August 29, 2017

Effective:

August 29, 2017

x.,wﬂ/

\) secreta ry

Page 2 0f 2




Subject:

Objective:

Definitions:

Policy:

Mora San Migue! Electric Cooperative, inc.
Credit Card Usage Policy
Board Policy Mo. 411

Mora-San Miguel Electric Cooperative, Inc. credit card usage policy and identify
company personnel authorized to be issued and allow usage of said credit card.

Establish appropriate and prohibited uses, identify those company etnployees who
may be issued or authorized usage, set dollar procurement limits on uses of said
company credit card.

Appropriate uses: are those expendliures that are allowed when utilizing the
company credit card, Appropriate uses include expenditures for office equipment,
supplies, services, tralning, travel, meals, hotels, food and gifts required to
conduct coop bustness and or required by coop employees to perform their duties
in servicing the members and or cusiomers, Prohibited uses: are those
expenditures that are not allowed when utilizing the company credit card.
Prohibited uses include expenditures for aleohol, personat use, appropriate uses in
axcess of $1,000.00 unless approved by the General Manager, and any
expenditure not required or related to performing work or providing service on
behalf of the cooperative and its members.

MSMEC shall aliow for procurement utilizing a company credit card.

A company credit card may be Issued to the General Manager for purchases
allowed for in the Credit Card Usage Policy. The General Manager may issue a
company credit card to the Administrative Assistant for purchases allowed for in
the Credit Card Usage Policy and for use on a day to day basis as other employees
require and request procurement of appropriate uses.

Procurement of items using the credit card shall be pursued utilizing procurement
practices that shall establish competitiveness and provide for the best price for
the procurement of the itern(s) specified, All procurements shall comply with all
RUS and company procurement regulations and policies when possible,

A procurement limit of not to exceed $1000.00 dollars, unless approved by the
General Manager, shall be set when utilizing the Company credit card to purchase
a tangible item.

Use of the company credit card shall be authorized ONLY for appropriate uses. The
company credit card shall NOT be authorized for prohibited uses.

Page 1 of 2




Reporting of procurements utilizing the company credit card shall be recorded and
raintained by the Finance Manager.

ftemlzed receipts for procurement utilizing the company credit card shali be
reported and turned in to the Finance Manger within the month the procurement
occurred. The Finance Manager shall retain and file with the monthly company
credit card statement. The Finance Manager shall upon reconciling the monthly
credit card statement provide a monthly company credit card report to the Board
of Trustees as part of the Finance Meeting. Disclosure of prohibited uses shall be
reported to the General Manager immediately.

The General Manager shall review the prohibited uses reported and provide to the
Board of Trustees a report and recommendation at the appropriate time during
the following board meeting,

Policy Oversight:

it shall be the responsibility of the Finance Manager to review all recelpts and
statements recording procurement when the Company credit card Is used to
purchase. ldentification or knowledge of prohibited uses shall be reported to the
General Manager immediately upon becoming aware. The General Manager and
or the Board of Trusiees shall take appropriate personnel action to address the

violation of this policy.

Approved: August 29, 2017
Effective: August 29, 20’L7 )

\\cw(%f mmmmm

\ Board Secret ary

Page 2 of 2




MORA SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
EQUIPMENT USE AND PARKING PROCED{IRES
POLICY NO. 412

SUBJECT: MSMEC Equipment (Vehicles, Pickups, Bucket Trucks, Digger Trucks, Trailers, 4x4's
and Trenchers) is provided to qualified operators to aid in providing service and maintenance
throughout MSMEC’s service territory.

USE: Al MSMEC employees who are assigned to operate MSMEC equipment shall be properly
trained and licensed to operate said equipment and shall be insurable by the Company’s
Insurance carrier. Equipment shall be operated in accordance with manufactures standards,
MSMEC rules, regulations and all applicable laws governing operating such equipment shall be
adhered to at all times while operating, parking and storing said equipment, MSMEC’s vehicles
are equipped with GPS tracking devices.

IDERTIFICATION: MSMEC equipment shall be identified with Company legos and unit numbers
so as to identify as MSMEC's. Vehicles shall be ldentified by the unit number assigned. Only
company issued decals shall be placed on MSMEC’s equipment.

CLEANLINESS: MSMEC equipment shall be washed and detailed occasionally when weather
conditions permit or shortly after use in conditions where mud and grime build up on the
undercarriage and body, Detall means vacuuming/sweeping interlor/cabs, clearing cab, boxes,
and compartments of discarded items and trash. Cab area shall remain clean and clear of debris
at all times to insure safe operation of said equipment. Storing personal items in cabs to
conduct personal business in company equipment on company time is prohibited.

TOOLS AND MATERIALS STORAGE: Tools and materials mounted on or placed on equipment
shall be stored and secured in an appropriate location on the equipment. Tools requiring
covering or shielding from the elements shall be covered with the manufactures issued
covers/shields or guards. Loose unsecured matetials or tools are prohibited from being placed
in the operator’s cab while in operation.

SAFETY: MSMEC equipment shall have mounted an appropriate sized Fire Extinguisher and an
approved First Aid Kit. These Items shall be secured on the equipment In a location that is

- accessible and marked accordingly. Equipment {Pickups, Bucket Trucks, Digger Trucks and
Trailers) shall also be equipped with chock blocks/cones for use while equipment is parked,
anchored or stored. Chock Blocks and cones shall be stored on equigment in a designated
location. Bucket Trucks and diggers shall be equipped with Out-Rigger Pad and stored in a
designated location on the unit. Chock Blocks shall be properly placed when equipment is
parked, anchored or stored, Chock Blocks are to be properly place when parking, anchoring or
storing Bucket Trucks, Diggers and Trallers. Cones shall be placed at the rear of pickups/driver’s

i




side when unlts are parked during the course of business day or night. Out Rigger pads shall be
used when utilizing landing gears at work sites. Replacement of worn or lost Chock Blocks,
Cones and Out-Riggers shall occur when necessary. Working Foremen are responsible for
requesting replacements from Operations

MAINTENANCE: MSMEC equipment shall be maintained as per manufactures
recommendations. Operations Managers shall arrange for regular maintenance of all
equipment used in the Mora and Pecos areas. Records of maintenance, and repairs shall be
retalned in the Operations Managers office, Records for maintenance and repalrs to each piece
of equipment/unit shall be retained in a unit file.

Damage Reports: MSMEC equipment that is damaged during the use or transporting shall he
reported immediately to Operations Marager. A MSMEC Incident Report shall be filled out and
submitted to Human Resource so that it may be scheduled for review by the MSMEC Safety
Commiitee.

Presented to Board: November 30, 2020
Final Approval: December 29, 2020

Effective: December 29, 2020 \ QM
Q‘ fn e (\m

Vrrglnia Mondragon Secretary




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS FOR MSMEC NON-EXEMPT AND EXEMPT EMIPLOYEES
BOARD POLICY NO, 202

Types of Leave offered, Holidays, Overtime, Personal Leave Time, Bereavement
Leave, Military Leave, Jury Duty, and Voting Time

Subect: Evnployment Benefits for MSMEC Non-Exempt Employees and Exemp
Employees as it pertains to types of leave earned, taken, and granted.

Objectives:  Establish a MSMEC Policy identifying Mon-Exempt Employee and Exempt
Employee Compensation and Leave benefits offered by the MSMEC, Bargaining
Unit Employee benefits are controlled by the Collective Bargaining Agreement
currently in effect and this Policy is subject to those applicable provisions.

Definitions:  Non-Exempt Employees are those MSMEC Employees who meet all qualifications
under the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Exempt Employees are those MSMEC Employees who meet all qualifications
under the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Policy: Non-Exempt and Exempt Employees shall be entitled ta the 12 paid Holidays a
year, Overtime (Non-Exempt Employees only), Personal Leave Time (PLT),
Hereavement Leave Time (BLT), Military Leave Time (MLT), Jury Duty Time (JDT),
and Voting Time (VT).

s Overtime -~ Non-Exempt Empioyee shall be paid in accordance with FLSA
Standlards. Exempt Employees are exempt from earning and accruing
Overtime or Comp Time.

o Personal Leave Time - Personal Leave Tire for Non-Exempt Employee shail
accrue in accordance with “Exhibit A of this policy. Personal Leave Time for
Exempt Employee shall accrue in accordance with “Exhibit B” of this policy.
Personal Leave Time shall not exceed (750) Hours. Personal Leave Time to be
used by Non-Exempt and Exempt Employee’s shall be defined as Pre-
Scheduled Leave (PSLT), Scheduted Personal Leave {SPLT) and Unscheduted
Personal Leave (USPLT),

1. Pre-Scheduled and Scheduled Personal Leave Time shall be approved

by the empleyee’s Sunervisor nrior to raquasted time taken,

Page 1 of 3




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
EMPLOYRENT BENEFITS FOR MSMEC NON-EXEMPT AND EXEMPT EMPLOYEES
BOARD POLICY NO. 209

2. Unscheduled Personal Leave Time shall be slgned by the Supervisor
upon return to work,

The MSMEC Request for Leave Form shall be utifized to document all such leave.

o Bereavement Leave - Non-Exempt and Exempt Employees shall be allowed 3
days of paid bereavement per year to attend funeral of immediate family
members (Spouse, Childrer, Parents, Grandparenis, Grandchildren, Brother,
and Sisters including Step and Marital family).

¢ Military Leave ~ MSMEC provides Paid Leave and a iilitary Leave of absence
for its employees to serve in the military in accordance with the Uniformed
Services Employment and Re-employment Rights Act (USERRA} and any
applicable state law. MSMEC will not deny initial employment, reemployment
retention, prometion or any benefit on the basis of membership or service in
the military. Employees who voluntarily or involuntarily leave employment o
undertake military service can obtain information about leave benefits from
MSMEC Human Resource Department,

o Jury Duty Timme ~ Non-Exempt and Exempt Employees shall comply with Jury
Duty Notice. Upon receipt of jury summons, employee shali notify Human
Resource Department. Jury Duty Time served by the employee shall be
considered as time worked. Jury Duty pay shall be returned to MSMEC, i
excused by the court during regutar working hours, the employee must return
to work.

o Voting Time ~ For purposes of national, state, or local elections. Non-Exempt
and Exempt Employees who are registered to vote shall be granted two (2)
hours paid leave for voting, between the time of opening and the time of
closing polls. The employee’s supervisor may specify the hours for the leave.
This leave shall not be granted to any employee whose work day begins more
than two (2) hours subsequent to the time of the opening of the polls, or ends
more than three (3} hours before the closing of the palls.

Pags 7

ERINE
Fars?




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC,
EMPLOYRPAENT BENEFITS FOR MSMEC NON-EXEMPT AND EXEMPT EMPLOYEES
BOARD POLICY NO. 209

This Policy shall be administered by the Managers, Supervisors, and General Manager,
Human Resource shall be the office responsible for collection and appropriate filing of
all related documents,

Approved: September 27, 2012
Effective:  September 27, 2012
Approved: August 29, 2017
Effective:  August 29, 2017

‘T:\.I EN ‘/J /:
i %‘ z'l ."’L. K
I

~ Board Sé{)i‘etar‘if"‘f

Page & of &




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC,
NOM-EXEMPT PERSONAL LEAVE ACCRUAL SCHEDULE

“Exhibit A7
1% year 176 hours or 22 davs or 6.77 per period
2" year 176 hours or 22 days or 6.77 per period
39 year 1.84 hours or 23 days or 7.08 per period
4 year 192 hours or 24 days or 7.38 per period
5% vear 200 hours or 25 days or 7.65 per period
6 vear 200 hours or 25 days or 7.69 per period
7" year 208 hours or 26 days or 8.00 per period
8 yoar 208 hours or 26 days or 8.00 per period
9th year 216 hours or 27 days or 8.31 per period
10% year 216 hours or 27 days or 8.31 per period
11t year 224 hours or 28 days or 8.62 per period
12" year 224 hours or 28 days or .62 per period
13% vear 232 hours or 29 days or 8.92 per period
14" vear 232 hours ar 29 days or 8.92 per period
15" vear 240 hours or 30 days or 9.23 per period
16" year 240 hours or 30 days of 9.23 per period
17 year 248 hours | oF 31 days or 9.54 per period
18" year 248 hours or 3idays | or 9.54 per perlod
19% vear 256 hours or 32 days or . 9.85 per geriod
20" vear 256 hours or 32 days or 9.85 per period
| After 201 264 hours or T 33days or 10.15 per period
| year | i

“BOARC pOLICY NG, 2087

e A o R T T S
Agproveil Sugus: 29, 2000




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COORPERATIVE, INC,
EXEMPT PERSONAL LEAVE ACCRUAL SCHEDULE
“Euhibit B"

0 -5 years 216 hours or 27 days or 8.31 per period
6 - 10 years 256 hours ar 32 days or 9.85 per period
11~ 19 years 280 hours or 35 days or 10.77 per period
20 years and 320 hours or 40 days or 12.31 per period
Qver

“BOART PLLICY MO, 208”7

Approved): August 28, 2017

SUVGNE——




Request for Leave Form

Mora-San Miguel Electric Cooperative Inc.

Department: S
Employee Name:

Title:

__Employee Number:

Beginning Date:

Pay Pericd ..
Ending Date:

Beginning Date: - Time:

AMO

.. Leave Requesting

PMLI

| Ending Date; i

_AMD

PML]

Beginning Date: ) Time:

AMI]

PML]

; Ending Date;:

_Aml
PMI]

Beginning Date:  Time:

AML]
FML]

Ending Date;

AME ]
PML]

Beginning Date: i

 AML]
PML]

[Ending Date:

__AMLE

PMIE]

Beginning Date:  Ti

AMO
PML]

Ending Date: |

AML]
PML]

. Beginning Date:

AR
PML]

_Ending Date:

AM
PME]

Employee Sighature

Signature of Manager/Supervisor

Approved [

]

Disapproved [

Signature of General Manager

Date

Manager Approved [J]

Manager Disapproved [ T

Comments:

Enter hours of each type of
leave

PLT Accrued Time
Remaining
Pre-Scheduled PLT
Scheduled PLT
Unscheduled PLT
Without pay
Bereavement
Military
Travel/Training
Jury Duty

Total munber of

hours requested

Mote: Unschedulad PLT mmay, 2t the Cooparative’s rossnnable Hseretios, renuire a physician's
verification of diszollity or ability 1o returm o work fndiowing unscheduled lpave,

By Beng 240




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
{MSMEC)
EMERGENCY ACTION PLAN
BOARD POLICY MO, 218

Purpose

This Plan is intended to provide for the safety and wellbeing of all employees working for
MSMEC. The plan identifies necessary management and employees recommended actions
during emergency life threatening situations that may occur during working hours and/or in
MSMEC facilities. Training and Education promotion shall be provided by MSMEC to ensure all
employees are aware of the MSMEC Emergency Action Plan and what is required during such
episodes.

Plan Distribution

All employees of MSMEC shall be provided a copy of the Emergency Action Plan. Each
employee shall be required to sign acknowledging the ptan has been provided to them
individually. All newly hired employees shall be provided and sign for receipt of Emergerncy
Action Plan upon being processed as a new hire. The plan shall be filed in the Human Resource
office available for copy by any emplovee requesting.

Authorization and Administration of the Plan

The Board of Trustee of MSMEC shall approve the MSMEC Emergency Action Plan, The General
Manager shall be responsible for the administration of the plan. The General Manager may
delegate the administrative responsibility to the Safety Person/RESAP Committee,

Reporting Emergency Situations

Employees shall report emergency situations immediately upon recognizing an emergency
situation is occurring. Dialing E-511is recommended immediately. Once this notice has taken
place the person reporting shall inform Human Resource of the emergency, When calling or
notifying pravide a concise description of the emergency including, tocation, type of

emergency, persons involved, action being taken on site, and employee’s name making the call.
Possible Emergency Situations

o Buildings, Equipment, Vehicle Fire
o Explosions
o Bomb Scares
o Terrorist Acts
o Chemical Spills
Vehicie and Line Accidents

> Robbaria:




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
{MSMEC)
EMERGENCY ACTION PLAN
BOARD POLICY NO. 218

e Hostage Situations
# Violence inthe Workplace

2 Active Shooter

Emergency Situations may occur within the office or facilities during working hours. These
emergency situations may involve a threat to the Health, Safety, and Welfare of employees
who are within proximity to the situation {Robbery, Hostage Situation, Terrorist Act, or Violence
in the Workplace)

Under these circumstance employees shall attempt to exit the building immediately, hiding in
the building or stay and defend oneself from potential harm. Calling 911 shall occur only after
remaving oneself from the situation. Internal office codes should be developed to
inconspicuously notify supervisors or other empioyees of a potential emergency situation
developing, Upon receipt of an established code of danger, the employee acknowledging shall
call E-911 and inform all other employees and exiting of the building should take place.

Evacuation Procecures

Emnergency Evacuation Routes should be followed when Emergencies in the workplace may
require employees to vacate the premises. Notice to evacuation will be provided through
alarms and/or the intercom system. All MSMEC Buildings and Facilities shall have Building
Evacuation Routes established and drawn out on the building floor plan and posted in a place
where it can be seen by everyone who enters or exits the building and/or offices. Fvacuation
plan shall have a gathering area for employees, general public to congregate and be accounted
for. Employees are required to evacuate the building in accordance with the routes established
and in an orderly manner, Employea shall drop what they are doing upon notification to
evacuate the building and upon dolng shall instruct consumers/members to leave the building.
The last person out of the office/building shall close the door behind them.
Managers/Supervisors are responsible to account for the presence of their staff when at the
gathering area designated.

Lock Down Procedures

Emergency Situations in the workplace may require for the buliding to be locked down. Notice
of Lock Down shall be provided through intercom. Employees are required to lock their doors
and windows leading to their office to attempt to harricade themsalves in tha room and wait
for rescue




MORA-5AN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
{MSMEC)
EMERGENCY ACTION PLAN
BOARD POLICY NO. 218

Defending Position

Upon Lock Down and barricading in a secured area it may be required of employees to attempt
to take control of the situation by defending your position and taking control of an intruder.
This s the fast resort when in this position.

First Aid, Rescue and Medical Duties

Employee trained in basic first aid shall perform basic first aid techniques when, and if required,
Rescue and Medical services shall be provided by first responders called to the scene.

Fire Response duties

Employees trained on use of a fire extinguisher shall pull a fire extinguisher to extinguish start
up or small fires with the intent of preventing the spread of the fire and to extinguish the fire,
Fires that have grown to a point where s fire axtinguisher cannot be effactive in dousing the fire
should be left to the local fire responders.

Employee Emergency Response Training

MSMEC shall develop and provide Emergency Response Training to all employees, Training shall
take place throughout the year, Mock Incident Education and Training shall be provided
annually and as requested by employees, Evacuation exercises shall be conducted annually
and/or as often as determined necessary.

Attachment A: MSMEC Emergency Evacuation - Roll Call Sheet

The supervisor is responsible for maintaining a current employee Roll Call Sheet of their
department and to be used in the event of an Emergency Evacuation occurs, to verify that all
employees are out of the building. Please list names of employees that are not on list or
visitors. Qutside employees may be in the field performing their duties and would not be
counted at this time. The field personnel should be accounted for during or after a severe
weather or other county-wide event,

Approved: August 29, 2017

Effective:  August 29, 2017~

1

! ./7 r//f .

o ":w-‘r I/ / o
P li Ay 'v-({{_ , “';Z:\

Goerd Sevretany~" 7]

N




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
{MISMIEC)
EMERGENCY ACTION PLAN
BOARD POLICY NO., 218

MSMEC Emergency Evacuation ~ Roll Call
Attachment A

Department:

Name Insicle 1 Qutside | Accounted for or comment

Taken By: Cvate oo




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.

INTERRUPTION REPORTING POLICY

BOARD POLICY NO. 222

DEFENITIONS:
INTERRUPTION - Loss of electricity for any period longer than 5 minutes.

OUTAGE — State of a component when it is not available to perform its intended
function as a result of an event directly associated with that component. Outage
can cause an interruption of service to customers, depending on system
configuration.

POWER SUPPLY — Interruption originating from transmission system, distribution,
or substation.

PLANNED - Interruption scheduled to conduct maintenance.

All OTHER INTERRUPTIONS - All interruptions excluding power supply, major
event and those planned.

MAJOR EVENT — Interruption or group of interruptions caused by conditions that
exceed the design and operational limits of a system.

CAUSE CODE & EQUIPMENT CODES — Cause Codes indicates the initiating
condition which would include decay, animals, lightning, trees limbs, etc. while
Equipment Codes indicate what equipment was involved, such as broken
insulator, conductor, poles, etc. (Table- 2) Attached

SPECIAL EQUIPMENT CODES - indicates no failure of equipment or material
defect occurred i.e. when a protective device such as a fuse operates (as
designed) to disconnect a faulted conductor, no equipment has failed or been
damaged. (Table 3.) Attached

Weather Condition Codes — indicate the conditions that existed when the
interruption occurred. Not to be confused with Cause Codes. (Table 4) Attached



——

Voltage Level Codes — can be used to identify system behavior that is a function
of the operating voltage on the damaged components at the time of the
interruption. {Table 5) Atiached

RUS Form 7 Part G Column - Code to be included on reporting Form 7. (Tablé 2)
Attached

1, PURPOSE AND SCOPE

This policy provides guidance on recording and reporting interruptions and
outages within the MSMEC service territory. This policy promotes consistent

| reporting, response and documentation for record keeping and reporting

purposes. Consistency in outage recordkeeping will provide MSEMEC
opportunities for performance benchmarking. In addition, to help electric systems
collect useful and consistent data on outages to improve reliability.

2. INTERRUPTION REPORTING

TROUBLE TICKET — The generation of a Trouble Ticket is the first step in
interruption reporting. (Trouble Ticket) Attached. '

Obtain Information requested on the Trouble Ticket regarding the reported
interruption, then forward Trouble Ticket to the field persons who are to respond.

Trouble Ticket is traditionally results from a telephone call from a consumer
reporting service problems or interruption. Interruption calls during the work
week are taken by those employees answering phones. Interruption calls after
hours and weekends are taken by dispatch services.

Information regarding the interruption, location and individual contact
information is collected and documented on the Trouble Ticket.

The Trouble Ticket and or information regarding the interruption is provided to
the Linemen who will respond to the Interruption.

INTERRUPTION REPORT- documents the work performed by Lineman required to
restore power,




Typically, an Interruption Report is completed each time a sectionalizing device
opens permanently for the purpose of clearing a fault or de-energizing a section
of line for construction or maintenance (Interruption Report) Attached.

The Interruption Report shall provide enough information to comply with RUS and
PRC reporting requirements for service reliability and continuity. The Information
required on the form shall be captured to insure MSMEC may calculate industry
standard reliability indices, to include the effectiveness of various maintenance
activities performed by the borrower,

interruption Reports shall be provided to the Operations Manager responsible for
the service territory upon which the interruption occurred. Operations Manager
shall retain all Interruption reports reported/provided to them in their office files.

Operations Managers shall review all Interruption Reports for the purpose of
determining the system maintenance and or equipment replacement required to
minimize interruptions.

Interruption Reports shall be provided to HR as back up documentation for claims
filed by consumers resulting from interruptions when requested by HR.

3. REPORTS TO BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND RUS

MSMEC Monthly Interruption Report shall be provided to the Board of Directors
each Month {Monthly Interruption Report) Attached.

The Monthly Interruption Report shall be utilized to complete the Annual Reporis
required of RUS for outages during a certain time period. System Average
Interruption Duration Index, (SAIDI). SAID! is usually calculated for a calendar year
or year to date, but for major events calculations, daily SAIDI values should be
recorded.

Presented to Board: October 24, 2019 o
Final Approval: November 22, 2019

Effective: November 22, 2019 ) g "‘"’7\\”"\\2\,\;_\ .
A
Virginia Mondragon, Secreta\'y




Bulletin 1730A-119
Page 7

Table 2 represent an important development. Cause codes have been
adapted to align with both RUS and IEEE approaches. Note that the
codes recommended in Column 1 of Table 2 link RUS’s codes that
borrowers are acoustomed to seeing with the codes prescribed by TEEE,
Borrowers are encouraged to use the numbering system outlined in the
first column to categorize outages, The numbering system is flexible so
that borrowers can add their own cause codes within each subcategory.
Subcategory coding can bs used to isolate problems with specific types
or brands of equipment on the system and to monitor their performance.

Table 2. Cause Codes

RITS
orm 7,
CauselPart G,
Code [ColumnELE Code] Description

= | Power Supply! R iy
oA | 4 } Power supply ol S
Planned Outage —
100 e | 3 Construction
1ne-| ¢ 3 Maintenance
190 5 3 Other planned
| Equipment or Installation/Desion : =]
300 D 1 | Material or equipment fauli/failure 2R
30 D 10 | TInstallation fault :
30| D | 10 Conductor sag or inadequate clearance
340 o 10 Overload : :
350D | 10 Miscoordination of protection devices
360 D | L0 Othar equipment installation/desisn
Maintenamce :
400 |- D 1 Decay/age of material/equipment -
410 D 1 Corrosion/abrasion of material/equipment
420 | D 6 Tree growth
430 | D ] Tree failure from overhang or dead tree without ice/snow
440 D 6 Trees with ice/snow '
450 D 1 Contamination {leakage/extemal)
460 | D 1 Moisture
4701 D 6 Borrower crew cuts tree
490 D 10 Maintenance, other
= :




Bulletin 1730A-119
Page 9

160 Metering equipment
1907 ] Dlstnbuhon substation, other
‘ a;mi le&ures Distubumn

| Poles iid;ft{tlre\: oﬂler :
@Verh@ad Line Conductors and ]Dr“vnﬁ:es Distribution
300 Line conductor
310 Connsctor or clamp
320 Splice or dead end
330 Jumper
340 Ingulator
350 Lightning arrester line
360 Fuse cutout (damaged, malfunction, maintenance)
Recloser or sectionalizer (damaged, malfunction,
370 maintenance)
Overhead line conductors and devices, distribution,
390 other - -
: Un(ffrﬂiu und Line Canductors .u;-;f"i;;‘-ni;.u'
Dj;tnhutw' % o R RS SO 25 2 1381 S A
0. |Prinary cable N e A S0 |
Splice or ﬁtgm;_:, = ioZils : X i
Switch 3 g :
EIbov “ﬁ't\tf"

Fiin Elbcm bk 34
| Pothead or )¢ lermina

Underground, other

Line 'ﬂ?ransfcarmer

500 Transformer bad

510 Transformer fuse or breaker

520 Transformer arrester

590 Lme transmlmel other

‘ N 0 ]Eqmpment ]‘Damaged
999 No Equipment failure

Table 4. Weather Condition Codes




TROUBLE REPORT |

LR P PR P

Acct NO. v Socurity light TYP8 oo

* 1

Dt ettt it e THIO v osiees AM, oo P,

Nare ...

-...u-.-u-u---.nn.-uununu.nn---n---uu..-nu--unuruuu..u-.-n-p.-.u-u..,...:u,.,....

Address vuiereciennnon

, .
.;n-u-n-unu..n-uuru.un-uuuunuunuun-nu-uuun.uunuu.-».u........,,

Naluye trouble reported

B LT T T L T O T T T PP PP

e L R T . L L L Ty Ry Y T T S

e et L T R L

st s vt [PETSON FEPOIHiG]

Locerifon: Black NO, wvvvvvenrseneissceciseneninenen. Meter No. ...

R L L s L P T

L

Time Linemen Notifled ....v.cconvivnriiresinees. ANy oo P

REPOTHAKEN BY ©vcvvvereversserseseossesneamsnneersenmrennnns

| LINEMAN'S REPORT

Time Lineman Returned ... v Al e s PV s,

Tima Linemen left on Coll ....ovoivernedivinecnieenrs. AN oo BM

Vs svvrssnsanrinariais rirert

.

Time Sarvice Restored

T B SO

Total Miles f)rivsn by ane

B e L Y P T TP P Y P T p,

{F Transformmer] No. .vevvereenne,

serrennnnesnern B8 s e s aes

3

Couse Trouble Found ......

--n-u-...-..n--u...-..-nnuu-...n.u-....ua.n,...nnu----nu--nunn--un.....

..--u-.-n.n-uu..........-.----.uuuuuuuunn----u--..-;..-.-....u.u-.u.u....,....,......a.u.....-“..........,,,

...p......-u.u..-..n.n...n--.n--.,|n|.n-----nuuuurnn-u-uunnuu.--uunuu.---un-----u ......... LY R Py T,

Total Members or Ling Affected

e e T T L T T TP T P,

RETILY: S

L ey Py T P PR R TR,

Wibune Press,  Soefngers, MM, 8774

w

e et ern tomree o e e ke e e ke




Bulletin 1730A-119

Mﬁfl(/ t

Exhibit B
Page 1
INTERRUPTION REPORT
INTERRUPTION REPORT REPORTNO,
DATE TIME RECEIVED BY
YOCATION GR SWITCHNO, REPORIED BY TIME FOWER WERT OFF
SUBSTATION
PERDRE CAVSH —
BIFIRICT LOCATION OF CALSE ——
ASSIGNED TG TEME TRUCINO.
ACTION TAREN '
RESTORED SERVICH TO DATE T NG, CUSTOMBRS CUSTOMER-MINDTRG
RESTORED SERVICE TO DATE FIME O, CUSTOMERS CUSTOMER- Mt Thg
RESTOKED SERVICE 7O DATRE TIME W0, CUSTCHMERS COSTOMERMINUTHE "
TOTAL CUSTOMEES TOTAL CUSTOMBR FIN0TES
MATERIAL OR, HQUIPMENT copEy T
CATEE EQUI | WEATEER | RUSFORM 7
REVIEWED BY — ]
Dispatcher Superintendent - Engineor




000 § 00 | 0070 | 000 4 000 a I afieg ot

- . pro i fie] . 0L pRuGISSY
FWLLVLOL A9 PARY 3498

WO T Az pensedsyg

2330 TR peLtodsy sl

BuH 10 0L DRUBISSY

LTI g poey ey

NG IMRL tAg panodsy

340 L TpEpodey RLupy)

WM 1O 101 PIUTISSY]

SNIVLOL A9 pouy 3day

NO AL Ay pauedsy

2400 S speLIDdsy RUILL|

g L0 ‘0z paub]ssy

EETERTATeY] A9 pAeyg adey

SNO =L 1Ag naiodey

=0 Fe] ) podey sy

SHH L0 oL paubissy|

FRRLTVIOL R 1Ag PR 1Ry

“NO TN . Ag paoay

=0 TN . pepeday s

SHHLEC o) panssy

SRLLTVLIOL JAZ poTy 3,de

NG =L “Ag peiraday

G i manoday Al

5t 10 t0 1. paubrssy

SWIETEIOL Ag poey 182y

O L 2Ag peugday

=20 T ‘palicdey Sy

BYH 10 101 poubissy]
FRLITVIOL Ag pawy ndey|

+NGO O Ag pELoday

=0 S | pEsadey owp

5HH WO ol peubissy]

STALLTLOL Ag poey dey
NO SN . Ag peuaday]

A0 AL SpaLeday sus e

AR, O SATRRAIY PN Rl PR R Bt oy oL semnman : seary sageg
ooy e S SRINEN Ak Uokweeq 3 seliap 527 'Biol

qeTA TLUOIAT
tfoppodes  adnauagul




BY-LAWS
OF THE
MORA-SAN MEIGUEL
ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.,

As revised and adopted at the
June 24, 2017 Annual Meeting

ARTICLE 1 - MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. Reguirements for membership. Any person, firm association, corporation or body
politic or subdivisions thereof may become a member in the Mora-San Miguel Electric
Cooperative, Inc., (heremafter called the "Cooperative™) by:

(a) filing a written application for membership therein;
(b) agreeing to purchase from the cooperative electric energy as hereinafter specified,

{c) agreeing to comply with and be bound by the articles of incorporation and by-laws of the
Cooperative and any rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees; and,

(d) paying the membership fee hereinafter specified, provided however, that no person, firm
association, corporation or body politic or subdivision thereof shall become a member
unless and until the applicant has been accepted by the Board of Trustees. No Member may
hold more than one (1) membership in the cooperative for each active meter owned by the
member to whom electric service is being delivered (“active meter”), and no membership in
the Cooperative shall be transferable.

Section 2. Membership Certificate. Membership in the Cooperative shall be evidenced by a
membership certificate which shall be in such form and shall contain such provisions as shall be
determined by the Board of Trustees. Such certificate shall be signed by the President and by the
Secretary of the Cooperative and the corporate seal shall be affixed thereto. No membership
certificate shall be issued for less than the membership fee fixed in these by-laws, nor until such
membership fee has been fully paid.

Section 3. Types of Membership. The Cooperative will consider memberships to be either
single memberships or entity memberships as follows:

(a) A membership may be issued to a natural person. If a membership is issued to a
husband or wife, or to other persons maintaining a lawfully recognized domestic
relationship, it shall be deemed a joint membership. In the event of death, divorce or
legal dissolution of the joint member relationship, the joint membership shall be owned
by the surviving member retaining possession of the property served by the Cooperative.
In the event such property shall continue to be held jointly, the membership shall be




considered owned by the person designated by Court order or by that person paying the
Cooperative. In the event the joint members own more than one meter and the properties
associated with such meters are divided between the joint members, each joint member
shall be an individual member with respect to the property and meter retained by such
person.

(b) A membership may be issued to a legal entity, including any firm, association, corporation,
limited lability company, business trust, partnership, Federal agency, state or political
subdivision thereof, or body politic. Such entity memberships shall be voted by a person
designated by the entity in writing. The existence of a private legal entity shall be
established by verification with the corporations division of the office of the New Mexico
Secretary of State or by presentation of the legal entity’s Federal Tax Identification Number.

(c) inregard to a joint membership, the following rights shall apply:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
)
(vi)

(vii}

presence at a meeting of either one or both joint members shall be regarded as
presence of one member and shall have the effect of constituting a waiver of
notice of the meeting;

the vote of one (1) joint member shall be considered to be the vote of both joint
members;

a waiver notice signed by one or both of the joint members shall constitute a
waiver;

notice to either joint member shall constitute notice to both;
expulsion of either joint member shall terminate the joint membership;

withdrawal of either member from the membership shall terminate the joint
membership except in the case of death, divorce or other legal dissolution of the
joint member relationship;

either, but not both joint members may be elected or appointed as an officer or
trustee of the Mora-San Miguel Electric Cooperative, Inc., provided that any
person so elected or appointed must meet the qualifications for such office.

Section 4. Conversion of Sole Membership to Joint Membership. In the event of the
marriage or other legal union of a person who already has a membership in the Cooperative to
another person, the membership shall continue to be held in the name of the original member
until such time as a statement signed by both the member and the member’s spouse or other
person maintaining a lawfully recognized domestic relationship is delivered to the offices of the
Cooperative directing that the membership be held as a joint membership.

Section 5. Membership Fee, The membership fee shall be five dollars for each electric meter
providing service to the member, upon the payment of which a member shall be eligible for




setvice to each such meter.

Section 6. Purchase of Electric Energy. Each member shall, as soon as eleciric energy is
available, purchase from the Cooperative all eleciric energy used on the premises specified on
the member’s application for membership, and shall pay therefor monthly at rates which shall
from time to time be fixed by the Board of Trustees. Provided, however, that the Roard of
trustees may limit the amount of electric energy which the Cooperative shall be required to
furnish to any one member. It is expressly understood that the amounts paid for electric energy
in excess of the cost of service are furnished by members as capital and each member shall be
credited with a capital so furnished as provided in these by laws. Each member shall pay to the
Cooperative such minimum amount per month per meter, regardless of the amount of electric
energy consumed, as shall be fixed by the Board of Trustees from time to time. Each member
shall also pay all amounts owed by him to the Cooperative as and when the same shall become
due and payable.

Section 7. Termination of Membership. Any member may withdraw from membership upon
compliance with such uniform terms and conditions as the Board of Trustees may prescribe. The
Board of Trustees of the Cooperative may by the affirmative vote of a majority of all the trustees,
expel any member who shall have refused or failed to comply with any of the provisions of the
articles of incorporation, by-laws or rules or regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees, but
only if such member shall have been given written notice by the Secretary of the Cooperative
that such refusal or failure makes him liable to expulsion and such refusal or failure shall have
continued for at least ten days after such notice was given. Any expelled member may be
reinstated by voie of the Board of Trustees or by vote of the members at any annual or special
meeting.

Upon the withdrawal, death, cessation of existence or expulsion of a member, the membership of
such member shall thereupon terminate, and the membership certificate of such member shall be
surrendered forthwith to the Cooperative. Termination of membership in any manner shall not
release a member or the member’s estate from any debts due the Cooperative. If service is
discontinued to a member of the Cooperative at the request of the member, for non-payment for
electric service available, or for other violations of by-laws, or rules or regulations of the
Cooperative, without prior arrangements made for re-connection within sixty (60) days of such
discontinuance, such member so disconnected shall forfeit the membership and return the
membership certificate. The failure of such former member to return the membership certificate
to the Cooperative shall not prevent the membership from being considered terminated and
cancelled.

ARTICLE II - RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF MEMBERS

Section 1. Property Interests of Members. Upon dissolution and after (a) all debts and
liabilities of the Cooperative shall have been paid, and (b} all capital furnished through patronage
shall have been retired as provided by these by-laws, the remaining property and assets of the
Cooperative shall be distributed among the members and former members in the proportion
which the aggregate patronage of each bears to the total patronage of all such members, unless
otherwise provided by law.




Section 2. Non-liability for debts of the Cooperative. The private property of the members
shall be exempt from execution or other liability for the debts of the Cooperative and no member
shall be individually liable or responsible for any debts or Habilities of the Cooperative.

Section 3. Voting Qualifications. No member may vote in any election unless they have been
approved as a member of the Cooperative by the Board of Trustees at least thirty (30) days prior
to such election.

Section 4. Legal Counsel. At any MSMEC election where board members or individuals are
seeking to be elected or re-elected to the board of trustees, MSMEC shall not provide or pay for
legal counsel for any board member or individual vying for the position.

ARTICLE IIi - MEETING OF MEMBERS

Section 1. Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the members, beginning with the year
1967, shall be held on the last Saturday in June of each year, at such place in the county of Mota,
State of New Mexico as designated in the notice of the meeting, for the purpose of passing upon
reports for the previous fiscal year and transacting such other business as may properly come
before the meeting. Failure to hold the annual meeting at the designated time shall not work as
forfeiture or dissolution of the Cooperative, The Mora San Miguel Electric Cooperative shall
provide polling places as needed in all five districts of the Cooperative.

Section 2. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the members may be called by resolution of
the Board of Trustees, or upon a written request signed by any three trustees, by the President, or
by ten per cent or more of all the members, and it shall thereupon be the duty of the Secretary to
cause notice of such meetings to be given as hereinafter provided. Special meetings of the
members may be held at any place within the county of Mora, State of New Mexico, specified in
the notice of the special meeting. The Mora San Migue! Electric Cooperative shall provide
polling places as needed in all five districts of the Cooperative.

Section 3. Notice of Members' Meetings, Written or printed notice stating the place, day and
hour of meeting at which business other than that listed in Section 6 of these articles to be
transacted, and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered no less
than ten (10) days nor more than twenty-five (25) days before the date of the meeting, either
personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the Secretary, or upon the default in duty by the
Secretary, by the persons calling the meeting, to each member. If mailed, such notice shall be
deemed to be delivered when deposited on the United States Mail addressed to the member at the
member’s address as it appears on the records of the Cooperative, with postage thereon prepaid.
The failure of any member to receive notice of an annual or special meeting of members shall
not invalidate any action which may be taken by the members at any such meeting,

Sectiom 4. Quorum. A quorum shall consist of five percent of the total membership, present in
person, or onc hundred members, present in person, whichever is less. For purposes of
establishing a quorum each member shall be counted as one person for each active meter owned
by that member. If less than a quorum is present at any meeting, the meeting shall adjourn. The




determination as to whether or not a quorum is present shall be made one hour after the
announced starting time of the meeting. In the event the membership at such meeting is to vote
for a Trustee, and no quorum is present, and no competition for office, the incumbent Trustee
shall continue in office for an additional term of three years. If there is competition and no
quorum, the meeting shall be adjourned and be rescheduled within 30 days. 1f no quorum can be
obtained at the rescheduled meeting, the incumbent will continue in office for an additional term
of three years.

Section 5, Voting, At any Annual or Special Meeting, where MSMEC members are fo vote on
by-laws or election, MSMEC shall provide polling places in Mora, Las Vegas, San Miguel and
Pecos, NM. Members voting at these sites shall be counted toward the quorum. Voting shall be
in a public place and commence and end simultaneously.

(a) Eligibility for voting in Annual or District elections shall be determined by the
location(s) of the active meter(s) owned by the member. Each member shall be entitled to
one vote for each active meter owned by the member and each member shall be treated as
a separate “member” of the Cooperative for each active meter for voting purposes under
the New Mexico Rural Cooperative Act Section 62-15-8(G). A member may vote in a
District election in each District in which the member owns an active meter. Each vote
shall be cast only in the District in which the active meter is located. Any member in line
at the time the polls close shall be allowed to vote,

Section 6. Order of Business. The order of business at the annual meeting of the members and,
so far as possible, at all other meetings of the members, shall be essentially as follows:

1. Determination that a quorum is present.

2. Reading of a notice of the meeting and proof of the due publication or mailing thereof, or
the waiver or waivers of the meeting, as the case may be.

3. Reading of unapproved minutes of previous meeting of the members and the taking of
necessary action thereon.

4. Presentation and consideration of reports of officers, trustees and committees.
5. Unfinished business.
6. New business.

7. All other business which may come before the meeting or any adjournment or adjournments
thereof.

o0

Adjournment.

ARTICLE IV - TRUSTREES




Section 1. General Powers. The business and affairs of the Cooperative shall be managed by a
Board of five trustees who shall exercise all of the powers of the Cooperative except such as are
by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these by-laws conferred or reserved to the members.

Section 2. Election and Tenure. All members of the Board of Trustees holding office at the
date of adoption of this amendment shall continue to hold office until expiration of their term of
office. Beginning with the year 2018 Trustees shall be elected as follows:

a. One trustee shall be elected in each district

District No. t - One (1) Trustee
District No, 2 - One (1) Trustee
District No. 3 - Onpe (1) Trustee
District No. 4 - One (1) Trustee
District No. 5 - One (1) Trustee

After Adoption of this amendment, the first year in which a trustee election is slated for a
particular district, that election shall be the election for the Trustee position for that district.

Thereafter, trustees shall be elected in each district for a term of three (3) years according to the
number of trustees whose term expires at the annual meeting following each district election.

b. The total Board membership shall be five (5).

Section 3. Qualifications. No person shall be eligible to become or remain a frustee or to hold
any position of trust in the Cooperative who:

(a) is not a member and a bonafide resident of the district the member represents in the area
served or to be served by the Cooperative, or

(b) is an owner of a competing enterprise, or

(c) misses three (3) consecutive monthly board meetings without a valid doctor's written
statement (Fixceptions: Military duty), or

(d) is a former employee of the Cooperative within the last three years, or

(e) is a former employee who was terminated for cause or

(fy violates the Nepotism policy set forth in Section 12 of this Article IV, or

(g) has been convicted of a felony.

Upon establishment of the fact that a trustee is holding office in violation of any of the foregoing

provisions, it shall immediately become incumbent upon the Board of Trustees to remove such
trustee from office.




Nothing contained in this section shail affect in any manner whatsoever the validity of any action
taken at any meeting of the Board of Trustees.

Section 4. District. The territory served or to be served by the Cooperative shall be divided into
five (5) districts, each of which shall contain as nearly as possible the same number of members.
Trustees clected from each district will be apportioned so that each member of the Board
represents substantially the same number of members. The original five (5) districts shall be as
follows:

1. Chacon-Mora-Holman-Guadalupita-Buena Vista N. of 518-Ledoux-N & S El Carmen-
Lucero-Penasco Blanco Mora Co.- Turquillo-Upper Gascon Mora Co.-Vallecitos

2. Rociada-Rainsville E, of 442-Mineral Hill-Sapello-Trujillo-Valmora-Watruos ~ E.  of
Wagon Mound-Golondrinas-El Porvenir- Las Tusas — Buena Vista E. of 518 —
Gallinas - Manuelitas - Ojo Feliz - Onava-

Pendaries-South Commerce-Trout Springs-Las Dispensas- La Cueva E. of 442

3. Anton Chico-Bernal-Chapelle-Ribera-Romeroville S. of I1-25-Sheridan-Villanueva-
Blanchard-Los Montoyas -Myers-Sena-San Miguel-Tecolote E. of 1-25 -Telcolotito

4. Glorieta-Rowe-Gabaldon-ilfeld N. of RR Tracks-Ojitos Frios-San Jose-Valencia-
Glorieta Estates - La Manga-Lagunas - Pajarito-San Pablo-Serafina N. of I-25 - San
Geronimo S. of Co. Rd. A18A-Falls Creek S. of Co. Rd. A18A-Frontage Rd. 50 8.

5. Pecos-Cowles-Dxalton Canyon-Grass Mountain-Holy Ghost- Terrero-Tres Lagunas-Bull
Creek N. of Forest Rd. 86-Cow Creek N. of Forest Rd. 86-El Macho-La Joya North
Hwy. 50-Upper La Cueva Rd. East-Lower La Posada-Upper La Posada- N. Glorieta
Creek-Pecos State Rd. 223 North-I Pecos Rd. -Pecos St. Rd. 63 N of Glorieta Creek

Not less than sixty {60) days before any meeting of the members at which Board members are to
be elected, the Board may review the composition of the several districts and, if it should find
inequalities in representation which could be corrected by a redelineation of districts, the Board
may reconstitute the districts, so that each shall contain nearly as possible the same number of
members.

Section 5. District Meetings. Not less than thirty (30) days, or more than sixty (60} days before
each Annual Meeting, the Board shall call a separate meeting of the members of each district in
which a vacancy exists for the purpose of electing a member to the Board of Trustees to
represent the members located within such district, All such district meetings shall be held in a
public building within the geographic boundaries of the district. If there is no public building
within the district, then the meeting may be held in a private residence as approved by a majority
of the Board.

Section 6. Notice of District Meetings, Written or printed notice stating the place, day, and
hour of the meeting shall be delivered not less than seven (7) days before the date of each




meeting, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the Secretary, to each member of
the district. The notice shall indicate the district to which each member belongs, and shall state
that election of a Board Member is to be the purpose of the meeting. It shall also contain the
name of all nominees to be voted on at said election,

Section 7. Nominations. Not less than thirty (30) days or more than sixty (60) days before each
district meeting, any member residing in the voting district may file a petition for the office of
Board Member. Said petition must bear the signatures of twenty-five or more members of the
district. Such nominations by petitions shall be posted at the principal office of the Cooperative
at least fifteen (15) days before the district meeting.

Proclamation of Election. Not less than sixty (60) days, nor more that ninety (90) days, before
each district meeting, the Secretary shall cause notice fo be mailed of the district meetings. Such
notices may be mailed in conjunction with other Cooperative business and may be mailed to all
membets of the Cooperative regardless of district. The notice of election shall read as follows:

Proclamation of Election

Notice is hereby given to you that an election of Trustees in District

of the Mora-San Miguel Flectric Cooperative, Inc. will be held. Any
member wishing to become a candidate for the Board of Trustees of the Mora-San Miguel
Electric Cooperative, Inc., must file in the office of the Cooperative in Mora, Mora County, New
Mexico, not Later than the _ day of a petition for nomination for the office of
Board Member. Said petition must bear the signatures of 25 or more members of the district in
which such candidate resides. Forms of Petition are available in the offices of the Mora-San
Miguel Electric Cooperative, Inc.

Section 8. Election. At any district election/meeting of the members the quorum shall consist of
one percent of the members in that district. If less than a quorum is present at the time stated in
the notice of the meeting, the meeting shall adjourn and be rescheduled within 30 days. If no
quorum can be obtained at the rescheduled meeting, the affairs of cooperative shall remain the
same until the next regularly scheduled district meeting/election and the incumbent will continue
in office for an additional term of three years.

1} At any district election if there is competition the election shall continue, no quorum being
required and a majority vote prevails. If there is no competition, the incumbent shall remain
in office for an additional three year term. MSMEC shall provide one polling place in the
most centralized populated area of that district in a public place.

2. Each member in attendance at the district membership meeting shall be entitled to one vote
for each active meter located in the district providing service to such member. No members
at any district membership meeting shall be permitted to vote by proxy or mail. The
President, Vice-President or Secretary of the Cooperative may act as Chairman and preside
over any district membership meeting, or a chairman may be selected from the members
present.

3. A Secretary for said meeting may be furnished by the Cooperative or selected by the




members present, which Secretary shall record the proceedings of said meeting and together
with the Chairman, shall certify said proceedings to the Board.

4. The Board Member elected at the district membership meeting must be an actual resident of
the voting district from which the Board Member is elected. The Board Member shall take
office and assume the duties and responsibilities thereof at the first meeting of the Board,
whether special or regular, after the annual membership meeting as provided by Article V,
Section 1.

5. Should a Board Member move his or her place of residence from the Board Member’s voting
district, a vacancy in such Board Member’s office shall be declared by the Board of Trustees,
and a Board Member from said district to fill the unexpired term shall be named as is
provided in and by these bylaws.

6. Any error or omission in the giving of notice of the holding of any mecting as herein
provided, shall not affect in any manner whatsoever the validity of the election of any Board
Membet.

7. The Board of Trustees is empowered to adopt policies for the conduct of elections which
shall provide for proper control and canvassing of the membership votes.

Section 9. Removal of Trustees

1. Remeval by Members. Any member may bring charges against a Trustee by
filing such charges in writing with the Secretary of the Cooperitive, together with a
petition signed by at least ten per cenfum of the members of the Cooperative. The
charges and specifications against a Trustee must relate to the conduct of the Trustee in
regard to the affairs of the Cooperative. The petition referred to above must set forth,
above signature lines, the specifications and charges brought agamnst the Trustee. The
petition must also set forth the name of the member or members bringing such charges.
Upon receipt of a petition and charges, the Secretary of the Cooperative shall advise the
Trustee in writing of the charges and shall establish a date for a meeting of the District
membership of the District which selected the subject Trustee. The purpose of this
meeting shall be to hear evidence and to decide whether to conduct a recall election. The
meeting date shall be at least forty (40) days, but not more than sixty (60) days from the
date of presentation of the petition to the Cooperative. The Trustee charged shall be
heard in person or by counsel and shall be permiited to present evidence in respect to the
charges. The person or persons bringing the charges against him shall have the same
opportunity. The order of presentation shall be as follows: the person or persons
bringing the charges shall present evidence; the Trustee shall then be permiited to present
evidence; the person or persons bringing the charges shall then be permitted to address
the meeting and the Trustee may then address the meeting., No rebuttal or surrcbuttal will
be permitted in the closing arguments of the meeting.

Legal counsel for the Cooperative shall conduct the meeting and shall be charged with
the determination as to whether or not the charges are sufficiently specific to permit the




Trustee to answer thereto and the legal counsel for the Cooperative shall also be charged
with the obligation of determining whether or not there is evidence in support of each
charge. In the event no evidence is presented, the Membership shall not vote.

Following the presentation of the evidence by the members and the members of the
Board of Trustees, those present at the meeting shall vote by secret, written ballot. In the
event of a majority vote to recall the Trustee, then and in that event, a special meeting of
the District from which the Trustee has been elected, the members of the entire
Cooperative, shall be notified of a special meeting to be held for the purpose of voting
whether or not the member shall be recalled. The meeting shall be called within thirty
(30) days. In the event of a majority of the members of the Cooperative or the district
members present at the recall election meeting should vote in favor of recall, then the
recatled member shall immediately cease to serve as a member of the Board of Trustees.

2. Removal by Trustees. Upon a Trustee’s loss of membership status under Article IT
of these Bylaws, loss of eligibility or qualification under this Article IV or other
disqualification set forth in this Section 9, the Board may remove a Trustee from office
and such Trustee’s seat may be declared vacant by the remaining members of the Board
and such vacancy shall be filled in accordance with Section 10 of this Asticle TV,

A Trustee may be removed by the Trustees for failure to abide by the following standards
of conduct after reasonable notice:

a. General Conduct of Board Members. Trustees shall conduct themselves,
personally, and professionally, in accordance with the highest ethical standards.
Trustees shall refrain from (a) interfering with, or endeavoring to exercise undue
influence upon, the General Manager any other employee or agent of the
Cooperative in the performance of their duties, and (b) comporting themselves in
any manner as to encourage or promote insubordination on the part of employees
of the Cooperative or to undermine proper suppoit of, and respect for, the General
Manager, any other Trustee, employee or agent of the Cooperative.

b. Conduct with Respect to Fellow Trustees. Regardless of the personal
relations or differences between Board members, they should respect each other
in the following ways:

(I).  Each Board member should allow ample opportunity for every
other Board member to speak on any matter being considered by the
Board of Trustees and listen carefully to the opinions and factual
observations of the other Board members.

(2).  Except when in the best interest of the Cooperative, Board member
shall not reveal differences of position among Board members on matters
considered and acted upon by the Board of Trustees, except to other Board
members or the General Manager. This standard applies to informal as
well as formal communications.

10




Section 10. Vacancies. Subject to the provisions of the by-laws with respect to filling vacancies
due to lack of a quorum at an annual or district meeting, all vacancies due to the death,
resignation or removal of a Trustee, shall be filled by special election. A special election of the
district of which such member was elected shall be held within ninety (90) days from the date of
the death, resignation or removal of a Trustee. The election shall be held for the purpose of
filling the unexpired term.

Section 11. Compensation. The Cooperative may reasonably reimburse actual expenses based
on the requirements of written board policy and may reasonably compensate Trustees for actual
service through payment of a fixed fee (“per diem”™), as determined in the Board’s reasonable
discretion, for attending any:

1. Monthly Board Meeting;

2. Special Board Meetings; or

3. Function involving the Cooperative; or

4. Meeting of State, National or other Cooperative or industry organization, or
5. Function reasonably enhancing the Trustee’s ability to serve as a Trustee.

A presumption of reasonableness shall attach to the amount of the per diem if the average
reportable compensation for Trustees of the Cooperative does not exceed the statewide average
reportable compensation for trustee of all other New Mexico electric cooperatives by more than
10%.

No Trustee shall receive compensation for serving the Cooperative in any other capacity, nor
shall any Close Relative of a Trustee receive compensation for serving the Cooperative, unless
the payment and amount of compensation shall be specifically authorized by a vote of the
members or such payment and amount shall be specifically authotized by the remaining Trustees
upon their certification of such as an emergency measure. However, a Trustee who is also an
Officer of the Board, and who as such performs regular or periodic duties of a substantial nature
for the Cooperative in its fiscal affairs, may be compensated in such amount as shall be fixed and
authorized in advance of such service by the remaining Trustees.

Notwithstanding the forgoing and irrespective of whether otherwise allowed by law, the
Cooperative shall not on behalf of its Trustees pay pensions or establish pension plans, pension
trusts, bonus plans, health insurance plans, savings plans and any other incentive plans for the
benefit of Trustees, regardless of whether any such plans may from time to time be established
for employees of the Cooperative. However, if the terms of any such plan so allow, Trustees
may use their per diem payments or other funds for the purpose of paying the entire premjum
associated with their participation in such plans.

Section 12. Nepotism. No close relative or domestic pariner of a Trustee shall be employed by
the Cooperative who is a third degree relation by blood or marriage nor shall a Trustee serve
while a person who is a domestic partner or third degree relation by blood or marriage is
employed by the Cooperative. This includes a Trustee's parent, grandparent, spouse, sibling,
child, step child, grandchild, great grandchild, aunt/uncle, niece/nephew, grandniece/mephew,

11




first cousin and second cousin.

ARTICLE V - MEETING OF TRUSTEES

Section 1. Regular Meetings. A regular meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be held without
notice other than this by-law, immediately after, and at the same place as, the Annual Meeting of
the Members. A regular meeting of the Board of Trustees shall also be held monthly at such
time and place in Mora County, New Mexico, as the Board of Trustees may provide by
resofution. Such regular monthly meetings may be held without notice other than such
resolution fixing the time and place thereof.

Seetion 2. Special Meetings. Special Meetings of the Board of Trustees may be called by the
President or by any three (3) Trustees, and it shall thereupon be the duty of the Secretary to cause
notice of such meeting to be given as hereinafter provided. The President of the Trustees calling
the meeting shall fix the time and place for the holding of the meeting.

Section 3. Notice of Trustees Meeting. Written notice of the fime, place and purpose of any
special meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be delivered not less than five (5) days previous
thereto, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the Secretary, or upon a default in
duty by the Secretary, by the President or the Trustees calling the meeting to each Trustee. If
mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States Mail
addressed to the Trustee at the Trustee’s address as it appears on the records of the Cooperative,
with postage thereon prepaid.

Emergency Meeting. In the event that an emergency arises, as determined by the President, the
members of the Board of Trustees may be given telephonic notice of an emergency meeting, said
notice to be given at least six (6) hours prior to the emergency meeting of the Board of Trustees.
The President shall also be authorized to order that a telephone poll of the Board of Trustees be
taken. In the event such telephone poll is taken, the Secretary shall direct that person taking the
telephone poll shall prepare a statement reciting the question presented and the vote of each
member polled. A simple majority of the Board of Trustees shall control on any emergency
measure and the record of the emergency and/or the telephone poll shall be entered in the
minutes of the Cooperation at the next regular meeting of the Board of Trustees.

Section 4. Quorum. A Majority of the Board of Trustees present in person shall constitute a
quorum, provided that if less than such majority of the Trustees is present in person at said
meeting, a majority of the Trustees present may adjourn the meeting, from time to time; and
provided further, that the Secretary shall notify any absent Trustee of the time and place of such
adjourned meeting. The act of the majority of the Trustees present at a meeting at which a
quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Trustees. Trustees participating in a meeting
iclephonically shall not be counted in the quorum and shall not be permitted to vote on any
matter.

Section 5. Closed Meetimgs, The following categories of meetings shall be conducted in
private or “closed” meetings of the Board of Trustees:

12




1. Meetings concerning the legal affairs of the Cooperative;

2 Discussion of hiting, promotion, demotion, dismissal, assignment or resignation
of or the investigation or consideration of complaints or charges against any
employee, officer or trustee of the Cooperative; unless privacy is waived in
writing by the employees, officer or trustee;

3. Deliberations of confidential business information, the disclosure of which could
provide an unfair advantage in favor of other persons or entities;

4. The discussion of personally identifiable information about any member or
individual, unless the member or individual requests otherwise;

5. Meetings for the discussion of collective bargaining or related matters;

6. Matters related to wholesale power, procurement contacts and sealed bids.

7. Meetings subject to the attorney-client privilege pertaining to threatened or
pending litigation in which the Cooperative is or may become a participant;

8. Meetings for the discussion of the purchase, acquisition or disposal of real
property; and

9. Those portions of meetings of committees or boards where strategic and long-—

range business plans or trade secrets are discussed.

Proceedings of closed meetings shall not be recorded and no formal action shall occur during a
closed meeting, Following completion of any closed meeting, the minutes of the open meeting
that was closed, or the minutes of the next open meeting if the closed meeting was separately
scheduled, shall state that the matters discussed in the closed meeting were limited only to those
specified in the motion for closure or in the notice of the separate closed meeting.

Disclosure of information subject to the Closed Meeting section of these Bylaws shall constitute
a breach of fiduciary duty and said Trustee shall not be indemnified for legal expenses or
liabilities relating to the disclosure.

ARTICLE VI - OFFICERS

Section 1. Number. The Officers of the Cooperative shall be a President, Vice-President,
Secretary/Treasurer and representatives to such electric utility boards as the Cooperative may be
a member (e.g. Tri-State Electric Cooperative Board, New Mexico Rural Electric Cooperative
Association).

Section 2.  Election and Term of Office. The President, Vice-President and
Secretary/Treasurer shall be elected annually. Representative to other electric utility boards of
which the Cooperative is a member, shall be elected at such intervals as outlined by the by-laws
of such Board. The Officers shall be elected by and from the Board of Trustees at the meeting of
the Board of Trustees held directly after the annual meeting of the members, If the election of
officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as may
be convenient. Lach officer shall hold office until the first meeting of the Board of Trustees
following the next succeeding annual meeting or until the Trustee’s successor shall have been
elected and shall have qualified, or in the case of a representative to an electric utility board until

13




the representative’s term on the board shall have expired in accordance with the board's by-laws,
A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board of Trustees for the unexpired portion of the
term.

Section 3. Removal of Officers and Agents by Trustees. Any officer or agent elected or
appointed by the Board of Trustees may be removed by the Board of Trustees whenever in its
judgment the best interests of the Cooperative will be served thereby. Removal of such officer
or agent shall require a majority of all members of the Board of Trustees.

Section 4. President. The President shall:

(a) be the principal executive officer of the Cooperative and, unless otherwise determined by the
members of the Board of Trustees, shall preside at all meetings of the members and the
Board of Trustees,

(b) sign, with the Secretary, certificates of membership, the issuance of which shall have been
authorized by the Board of Trustees, or the members, and may sign any deeds, mortgages,
deeds of trust, notes, contracts or other instruments authorized by the Board of Trustees to be
executed, except in cases in which signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated
by the Board of Trustees or by-laws to some other officer or agent of the Cooperative, or
shall be required by Iaw to be otherwise signed or executed and,

(c) in general, perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may
be prescribed by the Board of Trustees from time to time.

Section 5. Vice-President. In the absence of the President, or in the event of the President’s
inability or refusal to act, the Vice-President shall perform the duties of President, and when so
acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the President. The
Vice-President shall also perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him
by the Board of Trustees.

Section 6. Secretary. The secretary shall:

(a) keep the minutes of the meetings of the members and of the Board of Trustees in one or
more books provided for that purpose.

{(b) See that all notices are duly given in accordance with these by-laws or as required by law.

(¢) Be custodian of the corporate records and of the Seal of the Cooperative and affix the
Seal of the Cooperative to all certificates of member ships prior to the issue thereof and to
all documents, the execution of which on behalf of the Cooperative under its seal, is
duly authorized in accordance with the provisions of these by-laws.

(d) keep a register of the name and post office addresses of all members,

(e) sign, with the President, certificates of memberships, the issuance of which shall have

14




been authorized by the Board of Trustees or the members,

(f) have general charge of the books of the Cooperative in which a record of the members is
kept,

(g) keep on file at all times a complete copy of the articles of incotporation and the by-laws
of the Cooperative containing all amendments thereto, which copy shall always be open
to the inspection of any members, and at the expense of the Cooperative, forward a copy
of the by-laws and of all amendments thereto to each member and,

(h) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as
from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board of Trustees.

Seetion 7. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall:

(a) have charge and custody of, and be responsible for, all funds and securities of the
Cooperative,

(b) be responsible for the receipt of the issuance of receipts for money due and payable to the
Cooperative from any source whatsoever, and for the deposit of all such monies in the name
of the Cooperative in such bank or banks as shall be sclected in accordance with the
provisions of the by-laws and,

(c) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from
time to time may be assigned to him by the Board of Trustees.

Section 8. Manager. The Board may appoint a manager who may be, but who shall not be
required to be a member of the Cooperative. The Manager shall perform such duties and
exercise such authority as the Board of Trustees may from time to time vest in the Manager.

Section 9. Bond of Officers. The Treasurer and any officer or agent of the Cooperative charged
with the responsibility for the custody of any of its funds or property shall give a bond in such
sum and with such security as the Board of Trustee shall determine. The Board of Trustees in its
discretion may also require any other officer, agent or employee of the cooperative to give bond
in such amount and with surety as it shall determine,

Section 19. Compensation. The powers, duties and compensation of any officers, agent and
employees shall be fixed by the Board of Trustees. The Cooperative shall indemnify trustees,
officers, including the general manager, agents and employees, as provided for present or former
trustees or officers in section 62-15-3Q, NM.S.A,, 1978. The Cooperative may purchase
insurance to cover such indemnification.

Section 11. Reports. The Officers of the Cooperative shall submit at each Annual Meeting of

the Members, reports covering the business of the Cooperative for the previous fiscal year. Such
reporis shall set forth the condition of the Cooperative at the close of such fiscal year.

15




ARTICLE VII - DISPOSITION OF REVENUE AND RECEIPTS

Section 1. Interest of Dividends of Capital Prohibited. The Cooperative shall, at all times, be
operated on a Cooperative non-profit basis for the mutual benefit of its patrons. No interest
dividends shall be paid or payable by the Cooperative on any capital furnished by its patrons.

Section 2. Patronage Capital in Connection with Furnishing Electric ¥nergy. In furnishing
electric energy, the Cooperative operation shall be so conducted that all patrons, members and
non-members alike, will through their patronage, furnish capital for the Cooperative. In order to
induce patronage and to assure that the Cooperative will operate on a non-profit basis, the
Cooperative is obligated to account on a patronage basis to all its patrons, members and
nonmembers alike, for all amounts received and receivable from the furnishing of electric energy
in excess of operating costs and expenses properly chargeable against the furnishing of electric
energy. All such amounts in excess of operating costs and expenses at the moment of receipt by
the Cooperative are received with the understanding that they are furnished by the patrons,
members and non-members alike, as capital, The Cooperative is obligated to pay by credits to a
capital account for each patron all such amounts in excess of operating costs and expenses. The
books and records of the Cooperative shall be set up and kept in such a manner that at the end of
each fiscal year the amount of capital, if any, so furnished by cach patron is clearly reflected and
credited in the appropriate record to the capital account of each patron, and the Cooperative shall
within a reasonable time after the close of the fiscal year notify each patron of the amount so
credited to the patron’s account. All such amounts credited to the capital account of any patron
shall have the same status as though they had been paid to the patron in cash in pursuance of a
legal obligation to do so and the patron had then furnished the Cooperative cotresponding
amounts for capital.

In the event of dissolution or liquidation of the Cooperative, afier all outstanding indebtedness of
the Cooperative shall have been paid, outstanding capital credits shall be retired without priority
on a prorata basis before any payments are made on account of property rights of members. If, at
any time prior to dissolution or liquidation, the Board of Directors shall determine that the
financial condition of the Cooperative will not be impaired thereby, the capital then credited to
patrons' accounts may be retired in full or in part. Any such retirements of capital furnished
prior to June 27, 1986, shall be made in order of priority according to the year in which the
capital was furnished and credited, the capital first received by the Cooperative, being first
retired. Afier June 28, 1986, the Board of Trustees shall determine the method, basis, and
priority and order of retirement, if any, for all amounts thereafter furnished as capital. Provided
that the Board of Trustees shall have the power to adopt rules providing for the separatc
retirement of that portion of capital credited to the account of patrons which corresponds to
capital (designated as investments in associated organizations-patronage capital and others)
credited to the account of the Cooperative by organizations furnishing electric energy or
providing financing to the Cooperative. These rules shall (a) establish a method for determining
such portion of capital credited to each patron for each applicable year, (b) provide for separate
identification on the Cooperative's books of such capital credited to the Cooperative's patrons, (¢}
provide for appropriate notification with respect to such capital credited to their accounts, (d)
preclude a general retirement of other capital credited to patrons for the same year or of any

16




capital credited to patrons for any year prior to the fiscal year. Capital credited to the account of
each patron shall be assignable only on the books of the Cooperative pursuant to written
instruction from the assignhor and only to successors in interest or successors in occupancy in all
or part of such patron's premises served by the Cooperative unless the Board of Trustees, acting
under policies of general application, shall determine otherwise,

Notwithstanding any other provision of these by-laws, the Board of Trustees at its discretion,
shall have the power at any time upon the death of any patron, who was a natural person, if the
personal representatives of the patron’s estate shall request in writing that the capital credited to
any such patron be retired prior to the time such capital would otherwise be retired under the
provisions of these by-laws, to retire capital credited to such patron immediately upon such terms
and conditions as the Board of Trustees, acting under policies of general application, and the
personal representatives of such patron's estate shall agree upon; provided however, that the
financial condition of the Cooperative will not be impaired thereby; provided further, however,
that the aggregate amounts so retired in any one year shall be set by the Board of Trustees each
year, but the aggregate amount retired in any one year shall be a minimum of Twelve Thousand
Dollars ($12,000.00) and provided further, however, that, if acting under policies of general
application to the amount mentioned above is not sufficient to retire the capital credited to any
such patron or patrons, such patron or pafrons shall have the capital credited to them retired in
the next succeeding year, before any other retirements are made in such succeeding year. The
patrons of the Cooperative, by dealing with the Cooperative, acknowledge that the terms and
provisions of Articles of Incorporation and by-laws shall constitute and be a contract between the
Cooperative and each patron, and both the Cooperative and the patrons are bound by such a
contract, as fully as though each patron had individually signed a separate instrument containing
such terms and provisions. The ptrovisions of this article of the by-laws shall be called to the
attention of each patron of the Cooperative by posting in a conspicuous place in the
Cooperative's office.

Section 3. Creation of Mora-San Miguel Flectric Education Foundation.

3.1 Special right to assign.

Members or patrons may assign all or any portion of their patronage capital, earned or credited
or expected to be carmned or credited in the future, to the Mora-San Miguel Electric Education
Foundation, a charitable tax exempt trust, effective as of the date of assignment, subject in all
cases to the Cooperative's prior lien for unpaid charges.

3.2 Assignment by failure to provide address.

Notwithstanding any other by-law provision, capital credits and capital credit payments, notice
or delivery of which cannot be made for failure of a patron or former patron to claim the same in
person, or to furnish an effective mailing address for a period of two years after the Cooperative
has mailed the same with sufficient postage to the last known address and to the last address
provided to the Cooperative, or after the Cooperative had in good faith attempted to deliver such
notice or payment, shall be and constitute an irrevocable gift by the patron to the Mora-San
Miguel Electric Education Foundation, a charitable tax exempt trust of such credit or payment
remaining after the Cooperative's prior claim for charges due has been satisfied.

17




3.3 Charitable trust.

It shall be the duty of the Cooperative to take the necessary steps to establish a tax exempt
charitable trust and to obtain approval of the Internal Revenue Service of the United States and
the New Mexico Taxation and Revenue Department and to cause to be named as Trustees the
officers, from time to time, of the Cooperative being the President, Vice President, the Secretary,
and Treasurer, who are to serve as trustees without compensation.

3.4 Priority of Cooperative's claim for amounts due from patron.

Nothing contained in this article shall be construed to deprive the Cooperative of its first lien
against any capital credits to satisfy any unpaid electric bill of the patron; only that portion of
capital credit or payment which is not needed to satisfy an unpaid balance for electric service
may be transferred to the Mora-San Miguel Electric Education Foundation under the provisions
hereof for the purpose of educational grants to our present active immediate families.

3.5 Savings clause.

If any portion of this article shall be held invalid or not effective to accomplish its purposes, the
remaining portions of the article shall not be affected thereby and in no event shall this article be
construed to adversely affect the exemption of the cooperative from liability for payment of
income taxes on its revenues from the distribution of electricity to its patrons.

3.6 Effective date.

The benefits accruing members under the capital credits plan of operation under this article shall
be retroactive and effective as of the first calendar year in which the records of the Cooperative
show that its members and consumers for said year paid for electric service a sum in excess of
the operating costs and expenses properly chargeable against the furnishings of such services.

ARTICLE VI - DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY

The Cooperative may not sell, convey, lease, exchange, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or
any substantial portion of its property unless such sale, conveyance, lease, exchange, transfer or
other disposition is authorized at a duly held meeting of the members thereof by the affirmative
vote of not less than two thirds of all the members of the Cooperative, and unless the notice of
such proposed sale, lease or other disposition shall have been contained in the notice of the
meeting, provided, however, that notwithstanding anything herein contained, or any other
provisions of law, the Board of Trustees of the Cooperative, without authorization by the
members thereof, shall have full power and authority to anthorize the execution and delivery of a
mortgage or mortgages or a deed or deeds of trust upon, or the pledging, assignment for security
putposes or encumbering of, any or all of the property, assets, rights, privileges, licenses,
franchises and permits of the Cooperative, whether acquired or to be acquired and wherever
situated, as well as the revenues and income therefrom, all upon such terms and conditions as the
Board of Trustees shall determine, to secure any indebtedness of the Cooperative.

ARTICLE IX - SEAL

The Cooperative Seal of the Corporate shall be in the form of a circle and shall have inscribed

18




there on the name of the Cooperative and the words "Cooperative Seal."
ARTICLE X - FINANCIAL TRANSACTION

Section 1. Contracts. Except as otherwise provided in these by-laws, the Board of Trustees
may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents to enter into any contract or execute and
deliver any instrument in the name and on behalf of the Cooperative, and such authority may be
general or confined to specific instances.

Section 2. Checks, Drafts, ete. Except as otherwise provided by law or in these by-laws, all
checks, drafts or other evidence of indebtedness issued to the name of the Cooperative shall be
signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, or employee or employees, of the Cooperative
in such a manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Trustees,

Section 3. Deposits. All funds of the Cooperative shall be deposited from time to time to the
credit of the Cooperative in such bank or banks as the Board of Trustees may select.

Section 4. Change in Rates. Written notice shall be given to the Administrator of the Rural
Utility Service of the United States of America not less than ninety (90) days prior to the date
upon which any proposed change in rates charged by the Cooperative for electric energy
becomes effective.

Section 5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Cooperative shall begin on the first day of
January and end on the thirty-first day of December of the same year.

ARTICILE XTI - MISCELLANEQUS

Section 1. Membership in other Organizations., The Cooperative shall not become a member
of any organization without an affirmative vote of the members at a meeting called as provided
in these by-laws, and the notice of said meeting shall specify that action is to be taken upon such
proposed membership as an item of business.

Sectien 2. Waiver of Notice. Any member or Trustee may waive in writing, any notice of a
meeting required to be given by these by laws. The attendance of a meraber or Trustee at any
mesting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting by such member or Trustee, except in
case a member or Trustee shall attend a mecting for the express purpose of objecting to the
transaction of any business because the meeting shall not have been lawfully called or convened,

Sectien 3. Policies, Rules, Regulations, Rate Schedules, Regulatory Filings, Reports and
Contracts. The Board shall have power to approve, make, adopt, amend, abolish and
promulgate such policies, rules, regulations, rate classifications, rate schedules, coniracts,
security deposits and any other types of deposits, payments or charges, including contributions in
aid of construction, not inconsistent with law or the Cooperative’s Articles of Incorporation or
Bylaws, as it may deem advisable for the management, administration and regulation of the
business and affairs of the Cooperative.

19




Section 4. Accounting System and Reports. The Board of Trustees shall cause to be
established and maintained a complete accounting system which shall conform, so long as the
Cooperative is indebted to the Government or any agency or instrumentality thereof, to such
accounting system as may from time to time be designated by the Administrator of the Rural
Ulility Services of the United States of America. All accounts of the Cooperative shall be
examined by a committee of the Trustees appointed by the Board of Trustees which shall render
reporis to the Board of Trustees at least four times a year at regular meetings of the Board of
Trustees. The Board of Trustees shall also, after the close of each fiscal year, cause to be made a
full and complete audit of the accounts, books and financial condition of the Cooperative as of
the end of such fiscal year. Such audit reports shall be submitted to the members at the annual
meeting next following the close of such fiscal year,

Section 5. The cooperative shall not refund any membership fee paid by any member

Section 6. In the event the membership certificate is not surrendered after termination of
membership death or otherwise, the membership fee shall be transferred to the operating funds of
the Cooperative and all rights to its return shall cease.

Section 7. Membership fecs paid are not to be considered as deposits and no interest on such
fees shall be paid by the Cooperative, Such fees are voluntarily paid for the privilege of
exercising the rights of a member of the Cooperative.

Section 8. The application for a membership and granting of the same shall be construed as the
granting to The Cooperative of an easement, or easements for the construction, erection and
maintenance of its electric lines, poles, and guys and guy wires over and across the property of
such member, and such member’s heirs, assigns or successors, Termination of membership shall
not terminate such grant of easement or easements unless released by the Cooperative.

Section 9. Area Coverage. The Board will endeavor to see that electric service is extended to
all unserved persons within the Cooperative service area who, consistent with Board policies, (a)
desire such service, and (b) meet all reasonable requirements established by the Cooperative as a
condition of such service. '

Section 10. Headquarters. The headquarters for Mora-San Miguel Electric Cooperative shall
be in the town of Mora, County of Mora, State of New Mexico. Headquarters relocation shall be
authorized by the affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds vote of all the active members of
the Cooperative at the annual meeting,

ARTICLE XIi - AMENDMENTS

Unless otherwise provided in these Bylaws or N.M. Stat. Ann. § 62-15-7 (2013), these Bylaws
may be adopted, amended, or repealed (“Amended”) by the affirmative ballot vote of the
majority of the members voting in person at any regular Annual Meeting or Special Meeting
called for that purpose, a quorum being present.

20




Notice of any Member Meeting at which the Members will consider a proposed Bylaw
Amendment must:

1. State that the purpose, or one (1) of the purposes, of the Meeting is to consider the
proposed Bylaw Amendment;

2. Contain, or be accompanied by, a copy or summary of the proposed Bylaw
Amendment.

Upon resolution of a majority of those present and voting at an Annual or Special Member
Meeting, at which a quorum is present, recommending an amendment of the Bylaws in a
particular way, the Cooperative will bring a recommendation back to the membership at its next
Annual Meeting or Special Meeting called for the purpose of considering the proposed Bylaw
amendment, or alternatively publish a response in a newsletter or other correspondence to the
Membership on action propesed by the Trustees in response to the resolution.

Except for amendments relating to the sale or disposition of Cooperative assets or territory, any
group of members may by petition containing the names, authenticated signatures, addresses of
not less than fifty (50) non-suspended Members in each District or ten percent (10%) of the
cooperative’s Total Membership, have a proposed Bylaw amendment included in the agenda and
put to vote af the next Annual Meeting, so long as the petition is received by the Cooperative not
less than 180 days prior to the Annual Meeting.

Corrections of typographical errors, adjustments to formatting or other non-substantive

modification of the Bylaws shall not be considered “amendments” hereunder and may be made
in the ordinary coutse of business upon approval in an open meeting of the Board of Trustees.

21




MORA-SAN MIGUEL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
P.0. BOX 240
MORA, NEW MEXICO 87732

APPENDIX A

In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil
rights regulations and policies, the USDA, its Agencies, offices, and employees, and institutions
participating in or administering USDA programs are prohibited from discriminating based on
race, color, national origin, religion, sex, gender identity (including gender expression), sexual
orientation, disability, age, marital status, family/parental status, income derived from a public
assistance program, political beliefs, or reprisal or retaliation for prior civil rights activity, in any
program or activity conducted or funded by USDA (not all bases apply to all programs).
Remedies and complaint filing deadlines vary by program or incident.

Persons with disabilities who require alternative means of communication for program
information (e.g., Braille, large print, audiotape, American Sign Language, etc.) should contact
the responsible Agency or USDA’s TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TTY) or
contact USDA. through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8339. Additionally, program
information may be made available in languages other than English.

To file a program discrimination complaint, complete the USDA Program Discrimination
Complaint Fortm, AD-3027, found online at
http://www.ascr.usda.gov/complaint_filing cust.btml and at any USDA office or write a letter
addressed to USDA and provide in the letter all of the information requested in the form. To
request a copy of the complaint form, call (866) 632-9992. Submit your completed form or letter
to USDA by:
(1) Mail: U.S. Department of Agriculture
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights
1400 Independence Avenue, SW
Washington, D.C. 20250-9410
(2) Fax: (202)690-7742; or
(3) Email: program.intake@usda.gov.

This institution is an equal opportunity provider.

22




